RECEIVED

Nov 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAJON MALIK LAVERN GRATE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001477

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JORDAN WAYBURN
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in failing to charge the jury on self-defense where there was evidence from which the jury could conclude the decedent started shooting first?
2. Did the trial court err by admitting appellant's booking report and mugshot?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dajon Grate and his brother Nasirea Grate were indicted in Horry County for two counts of murder and one count of armed robbery in January of 2023. R. 1260. They were tried together before Judge Benjamin Culbertson and a jury from August 19 to 28, 2024. R. 1. Appellant was represented by James Galmore, his brother by Ralph Wilson, Sr., and the state by Nancy Livesay and Liz Martin. R. 2. The jury acquitted both brothers of all charges as indicted and found them both guilty of one count of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 1223:3-1224:2. The trial court then sentenced them both to thirty years in prison. R. 1249:3-9.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 31, 2022, at about 1:30 in the afternoon, appellant and his brother Nasirea went to a Sunhouse gas station in the Red Bluff area of Horry County. R. 48:1-284, 58:10-59:5; State's Ex. 40 (00:03-00:30).¹ Their friend Todd Fry drove them in his silver Cadillac, and their cousin Jeremiah Dicker was also with them. R. 724:2-22; State's Ex. 199A. Appellant went inside, purchased a can of Pringles, and left the store. State's Ex. 40 (6:55-7:55). Before the group left, Dicker spoke with a young man outside the convenience store in a white Acura SUV, although the surveillance footage does not have audio. R. 725:5-11; State's Ex. 40 (10:45-12:00). That young man was identified as Kalik Conn. R. 721:12-722:19; State's Ex. 199A. It is not possible to see what they did other than talk, except that it is apparent Dicker can see in the car. State's Ex. 40 (10:45-12:00). According to cell site location and GPS data, as interpreted by Detective Ken Marcus, the group of four left the Sunhouse and travelled up Red Bluff Road. R. 725:12-23, 732:2-734:18, State's Ex. 199A. Then Dicker called Conn, and at 1:49 p.m. he texted Conn an address on state highway 554. R. 726:20-727:15; State's Ex. 199A. Conn responded "Cmin down street now," to which Dicker replied, "Ite." R. 727:16-24; State's Ex. 199.

Shortly after 2 p.m. Bernice Mellado called 911 because she heard shooting outside her apartment on highway 554. R. 115:2-20, 119:5-19. When she looked out the window she saw "a guy" in a black shirt with dreads. R. 116:8-18. After the shooting stopped, she stepped outside and found one young man dead on the steps and another dead in the driver seat of the SUV outside, both with gunshot wounds. R. 119:18-121:17. The young man in the car was identified as Conn,

¹ State's Exhibit 40 is a compilation of several different Sunhouse surveillance videos, some of which occurred at the same time. Referring to the timestamp directly on the video would not sufficiently direct a viewer to the relevant portion, so the time marks used here refer to the relative point in the exhibit.

and Dicker was at the steps. R. 338:23-339:8. Dicker's blood trailed behind him to the passenger seat of the SUV. R. 121:20-24; State's Ex. 6.

Dr. Angelina Phillips, an expert in forensic pathology, testified Dicker suffered three gunshot wounds: one that grazed his head, one in the back which was fatal, and a final shot to his forearm and elbow. R. 914:5-11, 915:10-918:11. Specifically, she testified the graze on his head travel from front to back. R. 915:12-25. The one to his back went through his body back to front. R. 916:19-917:7. The third wound was to his right forearm, and "a projectile . . . was recovered from the region of the elbow."² R. 917:21-918:3. She agreed the injury to Dicker's elbow could be considered a "defensive wound." R. 931:10-24.

Phillips testified Conn was shot five times: once in the head, once in the chest, once in the back, and once more in both the armpit and arm. R. 920:4-924:16, 930:3-25; State's Ex. 226. The injuries to the head and chest were fatal. R. 922:17-22. The head wound was traveling from right to left, and a bullet fragment was recovered from the wound. R. 920:12-21. Another fragment was recovered from the wound to his back. R. 925:23-25. That wound was potentially fatal and would have left him immediately paralyzed below the injury. R. 923:1-17. Phillips recognized she could not testify who shot the other first because she had no way of knowing that, nor could she determine the order of the bullets striking each body. R. 920:7-11, 933:23-934:10.

Appellant's blood and phone were found in the backseat of the SUV. R. 393:4-21, 397:7-12, 712:14-713:1, 1017:23-1019:18. Appellant had been shot twice, once each in his left arm and leg, and that afternoon he was taken to the hospital by emergency services. R. 190:4-191:25, 257:6-19; State's Ex. 63.

² This bullet, as well as fragments of two from Conn's body, were marked for ID purposes only as State's Exhibit 216. R. 623:24-25. They were never moved into evidence.

Detective Robert Bauman was the crime scene investigator. R. 321:7-24, 323:2-9. Bauman found two firearms in and near the SUV. One, a Glock 9mm with an extended magazine, was found in Conn's lap. R. 498:11-14, 537:7-538:17. Conn also had a second loaded magazine on his person. R. 506:7-507:11. The other gun, a Canik 9mm, was found just outside the passenger side of the SUV and had Dicker's fingerprints on it. R. 495:7-24, 548:22-549:11, 648:7-649:24, 652:5-13; State's Ex. 223. It was jammed. R. 300:9-21. The passenger door was open when officers arrived. R. 121:20-24, 300:1-7. Bauman collected twenty shell casings from inside of and around the car. R. 379:21-25. Nine were lime green, four were blue, three were red, and the final four were gray. R. 369:20-370:25, 591:2-24; State's Ex. 5. Bauman agreed State's Exhibit 5 represents the approximate layout of various items in the SUV—although it is not to scale nor perfectly accurate. R. 367:6-368:3. Bauman also found three bags of "a leafy green substance"³ around the car and a digital scale in the center console. R. 497:12-498:22. One of the bags was in the backseat. R. 353:19-22. Bauman recovered no money from the car.⁴

Bauman also documented where he found bullet holes in the vehicle. The windshield and both driver's side doors had bullet holes in them. R. 332:24-333:14; State's Ex. 98, 99. At least three bullets went through the backseat. R. 513:12-514:12. Bauman used trajectory rods to identify where some of the bullets went inside the car. R. 403:20-404:13, 406:14-407:2; State's Ex. 190-191. He was able to determine that some bullets went through the driver's seat, one was stopped inside the seat, and another was pointed toward the passenger. R. 407:3-409:6. He did

³ Although the solicitor assumed this "substance" was marijuana, it was apparently never tested.

⁴ Some money was found in a backpack with a wallet with Nasirea Grate's ID. R. 783:1-11, 785:13-22. That backpack, however, was recovered from a house on McNeil Chapel Road, not the crime scene. R. 675:2-676:10.

not, however, use trajectory rods on every bullet hole. R. 486:23-10, 1169:12-19. He either did not use trajectory rods for the bullets that went into the backseat, or at least he has no such pictures or "might have missed one." R. 486:8-487:14.

SLED agent Paul Greer testified as an expert in firearms identification. R. 578:12-19. He examined the two firearms, twenty shell casings, and several bullet fragments. R. 579:8-580:2, 595:8-18. He testified four separate firearms produced the twenty casings. R. 582:6-20. Conn's Glock left nine lime green casings. R. 592:22-25, 593:21-25, 601:5-10. Dicker's Canik left four blue casings. R. 591:15-24, 601:11-14. A third firearm, a 9mm Luger, fired the four gray casings Bauman recovered from the backseat. R. 590:23-591:11, 601:15-24. A fourth firearm, a .45 caliber, was responsible for the final three red casings. R. 590:6-22, 601:16-18. Greer testified he examined the bullet fragments from Conn's autopsy and determined they were fired by the .45 caliber gun. R. 595:8-596:23. He gave no opinion on the bullet retrieved from Dicker's autopsy.

Over appellant's and Nasirea's objections, the trial court allowed the state to introduce a "booking report" on appellant, Nasirea, and Dicker. R. 90:13-94:12, 100:4-101:6; State's Ex. 47, 49, 51. Both Nasirea and appellant objected because they are booking documents, cumulative, and unfairly prejudicial. R. 90:15-91:8. The reports were partially redacted because some information on them was hearsay. R. 93:13-94:8. The reports stayed hanging on the solicitor's presentation board throughout the trial. R. 1171:2-12.

At the close of the case, appellant argued, among other things, that Conn started shooting first, which "puts [the state's] theory on its head." R. 1178:3-10. He argued that because the head wound was fatal, "[Conn's] not shooting after he's shot in the head. He, therefore; must have fired those ten shots before he was shot." R. 1169:8-11. At the end of his closing appellant argued, "All I can tell you is that, for some reason, Mr. Conn started shooting, there [were] shots returned."

R. 1184:1-2. He continued: "I don't know what happened in the car. I don't know why a shooting started. All I know is that Conn had to fire first because he couldn't fire second." R. 1184:23-25.

In Nasirea's closing argument he argued, among other things, "Murder is the killing -- the unlawful, the wrongful killing of one person by another with what we call malice aforethought. They didn't even come close to proving that. Because it's not unlawful if you defend yourself. . . . You have a right to defend yourself to the point of taking another person's life they're trying to take yours." R. 1156:10-17.

Neither appellant nor Nasirea requested the court give a self-defense charge during the initial charge conference. R. 1103:6-1111:5. However, during deliberations the jury sent the court two questions: (1) "What is the law of self-defense if they leave?"; and (2) "What is the definition of voluntary manslaughter?" R. 1210:11-14. The trial court's initial inclination was to instruct the jury it had "ruled as a matter of law that self-defense is not an available [de]fense in this case." R. 1210:15-19. Both defendants objected to that language. R. 1212:9, 1215:9-11. Nasirea also argued, "I think a better charge would be to charge the jury that the state has to prove -- disprove all the elements of self-defense" R. 1212:17-22. After that, the court heard from appellant:

But to say that self-defense is not available as a matter of law, it was not an issue that was discussed. And I think that does intrude into the jury's purview of the evidence. They saw something that none of us saw. I guess they're entitled to that if that's obviously the evidence, sir.

R. 1215:15-20. The trial court stated, "Well, the fact of the matter is, is I'm not going to charge them. I don't know that I'm violating -- I'm not going to charge them on self-defense." R. 1216:22-24. The solicitor also stated:

[I]t's a weird place because the jury instructions have to talk to whatever the evidence is, and the defense kind of got up there and said we weren't there, but . . . it was also kind of Kalik Conn was firing and kind of trying to put out self-defense, even though there

was no evidence of self-defense. So, I think that's where the question comes into play.

R. 1217:4-11. The jury ultimately convicted appellant of the voluntary manslaughter of Conn, and he was sentenced to thirty years in prison. R. 1223:3-1224:2, 1249:3-9. He was acquitted of on the armed robbery and murder of Dicker charges. R. 1223:3-1224:2.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006) (quoting *State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). "If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error." *State v. Slater*, 373 S.C. 66, 70, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007) (quoting *State v. Muller*, 282 S.C. 10, 10, 316 S.E.2d 409, 409 (1984)). Whether "any evidence" exists to warrant the charge is a question of law this Court reviews de novo on appeal. *State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 249, 830 S.E.2d 904, 906 (2019).

ARGUMENT

I. The inference Conn fired first was sufficient to reach the jury on self-defense.

a. Evidence of Self-Defense

"If there is any evidence in the record from which it could reasonably be inferred that the defendant acted in self-defense, the defendant is entitled to instructions on the defense, and the trial judge's refusal to do so is reversible error." *State v. Light*, 378 S.C. 641, 650, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008) (citing *State v. Slater*, 373 S.C. 66, 70, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007)). "When reviewing the circuit court's refusal to deliver a requested jury instruction, appellate courts must consider the evidence in a light most favorable to the defendant." *State v. Williams*, 400 S.C. 308, 314, 733 S.E.2d 605, 608-09 (Ct. App. 2012) (quoting *State v. Cole*, 338 S.C. 97, 101, 525 S.E.2d 511, 512-13 (2000)).

Here, the trial court refused to charge the jury on self-defense because it believed there was "no evidence . . . the defendants were defending themselves."⁵ R. 1213:16-18. This was incorrect. In particular, three points suggest Conn began shooting first and was therefore the aggressor. First, of the twenty bullet casings recovered from the scene, Conn fired nine of them even though three other weapons were fired. It is reasonable to infer from that evidence Conn started shooting first or else he would not have been able to shoot so many times before he was paralyzed and killed.

⁵ The court also seemed to believe that because the defense's primary theory was "We didn't do it," they could not "assert[] an alternative defense." R. 1213:13-24. That is absolutely incorrect. *See State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 308-09, 555 S.E.2d 391, 397-98 (2001) (holding trial court erred by refusing to charge voluntary manslaughter where one of defendant's statements to police supported the charge even though the defense's theory—and the defendant's testimony—was that he was elsewhere at the time of the crime); *cf. Light*, 378 S.C. at 651, 664 S.E.2d at 470 ("When there is a factual issue as to whether the shooting was committed intentionally in self-defense or was committed unintentionally, then the defendant is entitled to both charges as there is 'any evidence' to support each charge. When there is evidence of both, as in this case, we find the jury is entitled to resolve the question of how the shooting actually occurred.").

Further, the pathologist testified he would have died instantly and been unable to continue shooting his weapon after the wound to the head. It is rational for a jury to conclude that the apparent speed with which he fired his weapons indicates he started the shootout.

Second, the forensic pathologist testified Dicker had what could be considered "defensive wounds" where he was shot in the elbow, reasonably indicating he was attempting to defend himself from Conn. He was also shot in the back and left a trail of blood out the car, indicating he tried to run away after Conn pulled his gun and started shooting. The firearms expert did not determine what type of bullet—and therefore who—killed Dicker. Therefore, the jury could easily infer Conn killed him—as it appeared to do given the acquittal as to Dicker. These facts could indicate Conn started the conflict.

Third, and finally, appellant himself was shot and there were multiple bullet holes in the back seat of the car. It is indisputable he was being fired at, and that typically and appropriately raises the possibility of self-defense.

Altogether, this was evidence from which the jury could reasonably conclude the defendants acted in self-defense. That is why the jury asked the trial court to explain the law of self-defense. If Conn began shooting first in the closed environment of the car, there should be no doubt this was a question for the jury to determine. Only the jury could decide whether Conn was the aggressor and initiated the violence, and the trial court therefore erred by refusing to charge self-defense on the basis there was no evidence to support it.

b. *Elements of Self-Defense*

Self-defense in South Carolina consists of four elements:

- 1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty;
- 2) the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger;
- 3) if his defense is based

upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief; if the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life, and; 4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Goodson, 312 S.C. 278, 280, 440 S.E.2d 370, 372 (1994) (citing *State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984)).

It is undisputed appellant was shot in the backseat of Conn's SUV—his phone and blood were found there—and that Conn fired his Glock nine times. Evidence of targeted gunfire in a small, enclosed environment is plainly sufficient to reach the jury on the second and third elements. As to the fourth element, it is also at least a jury question whether appellant had other means of escape and could safely retreat. Given Dicker's failed attempt to flee and which left him with a fatal shot to the back, there was no safe avenue of escape. Finally, there must be any evidence that appellant was without fault. There was a reasonable inference Conn fired first, as both defendants argued. Absent very substantial evidence tending to show appellant was nonetheless the aggressor—of which there is none—that is sufficient to reach the jury. See *State v. Dickey*, 394 S.C. 491, 499, 716 S.E.2d 97, 101 (2011) (citing *State v. Wiggins*, 330 S.C. 538, 544, 500 S.E.2d 489, 492 (1998)) ("[T]he State is required to disprove the elements of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt.").

II. ***State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 830 S.E.2d 904 (2019), does not apply to this case and should be overruled because whether drug dealing was the proximate cause of the difficulty resulting in death was a question for the jury.**

Before the court denied the defendants' request, the solicitor argued they were not entitled to claim self-defense "because there is such a nexus between guns and drugs." R. 1216:2-21. The

solicitor referenced *State v. Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 830 S.E.2d 904 (2019), and argued self-defense was barred because the defendant "brought guns to a drug deal." R. 1216:14-21.

In *State v. Williams* the Court held, "[Defendant's] actions proximately caused the difficulty as a matter of established law because his act of taking a loaded, unlawfully-possessed pistol into an illegal drug transaction was not 'merely incidental' to the act of arming himself in self-defense." 427 S.C. at 254, 830 S.E.2d at 908 (footnote omitted) (citations omitted). It reasoned Williams was not "without fault" in bringing on the difficulty because he knowingly brought a loaded weapon to an illegal drug deal. 427 S.C. at 250-51, 830 S.E.2d at 906. In *State v. Plumer*, 439 S.C. 346, 350, 887 S.E.2d 134, 136 (2023), the Court indicated *Williams* represents a categorical bar on self-defense in such cases. 439 S.C. at 350, 887 S.E.2d at 136 (citing *Williams*, 427 S.C. at 251, 830 S.E.2d at 907) (summarily rejecting the issue and stating, "It matters not who drew his weapon first or who fired first.").

For clarity, the trial court does not appear to have relied on *Williams* in any way. Immediately after the solicitor's argument about the case the court responded, "Well, the fact of the matter is, is I'm not going to charge them. . . . I'm not going to charge them on self-defense." Thus, the question below was whether—absent *Williams*—the defendants were entitled to a self-defense charge. It was error to deny the charge given the evidence that allows the reasonable inference Conn began shooting first: specifically appellant's gunshot wounds, the pathologist's testimony about Dicker's defensive wounds, and the number of casings and their implication about the timing of the shots. However, the trial court's ruling can be affirmed for any reason appearing in the record, so appellant addresses *Williams* now.

- a. *Williams does not extend to situations, like here, where it is disputed whether a drug deal even took place.*

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