RECEIVED

Nov 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001477

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAJON MALIK LAVERN GRATE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

BRIAN H. GIBBS
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 104137

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
Phone: 803-734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, II
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 1276
Conway, South Carolina 29528

Attorneys for Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court did not err by declining to charge the jury on self-defense after the jury began its deliberations because Dajon did not request a self-defense charge before the jury began deliberations and because Dajon was not entitled to a self-defense charge.

Generally, a trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. *Sheppard v. State*, 357 S.C. 646, 665, 594 S.E.2d 462, 472 (2004). The evidence presented at trial determines the law to be charged to the jury. *State v. Brown*, 362 S.C. 258, 261-62, 607 S.E.2d 93, 95 (Ct. App. 2004). "The law requires this self-defense charge, however, only when there is evidence in the record to support the right of the defendant to use deadly force." *State v. Jalann Lee Williams*, 427 S.C. 246, 249, 830 S.E.2d 904, 905 (2019). "If there is no evidence to support the existence of any one element [of self-defense], the trial court must not charge self-defense to the jury." *Id.* at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905-06. When any evidence in the record entitles the accused to a jury charge on self-defense, a trial court's refusal to give the charge is reversible error. *State v. Muller*, 282 S.C. 10, 10, 316 S.E.2d 409, 409 (1984).

A self-defense charge is only required when the evidence supports it. *State v. Slater*, 373 S.C. 66, 69, 644 S.E.2d 50, 52 (2007). The State then bears the burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt when evidence in the record entitles a defendant to a self-defense charge. *State v. Burkhart*, 350 S.C. 252, 261, 565 S.E.2d 298, 303 (2002).

To establish self-defense in South Carolina, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, defendant must show that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the belief that he was actually in imminent danger and that the circumstances were such as would warrant a person of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or the loss of his life;

and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger.

Slater, 373 S.C. at 69–70, 644 S.E.2d at 52. "Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide." *State v. Bryant*, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). An accused who provokes or initiates an assault cannot claim self-defense unless he both withdraws from the conflict and communicates his withdrawal by word or act to his adversary. *Id.*

A. Dajon's failure to request a self-defense charge before or during the charge conference, failure to object to the trial court's jury charge as given without a self-defense charge, and failure to request an additional jury charge on self-defense at the conclusion of the trial court's jury charge before the jury began deliberations constitutes a waiver of his right to challenge the trial court's decision not to charge self-defense.

Rule 20(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

All requests for legal instructions to the jury shall be submitted at the close of evidence, or at such earlier time as the trial judge shall reasonably direct.

Further, Rule 20(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that notwithstanding requests to charge, a party must object to the giving or failure to give an instruction *before the jury retires* and that failure to do so constitutes a waiver of objection. Thus, trial courts have no obligation to give instructions which are requested in an untimely fashion. *See State v. Matthew Williams*, 319 S.C. 54, 56, 459 S.E.2d 519, 520 (Ct. App. 1995) ("The trial court had no obligation in this case to give the instruction that Williams requested because the time for Williams to properly request a particular instruction had passed.").

Here, Dajon did not request a self-defense charge during the charge conference. (R. 1103-1108). He did not object before, during, or after the trial court's jury charge concerning the trial court not charging the jury on self-defense, despite being given ample opportunity to do

so by the trial court. (R. 1186-1208). Dajon's *first* mention of a self-defense charge on the record occurs over an hour into the jury's deliberations when the jury inquired about self-defense. (R. 1210-1219). Therefore, he waived any ability to challenge the trial court's jury charge as given without a self-defense charge because his challenge was not timely raised. *See State v. Simmons*, 423 S.C. 552, 561, 816 S.E.2d 566, 571 (2018) (stating that for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, "[t]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) *raised in a timely manner*, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity." (emphasis added) (quoting *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. First Carolina Corp. of S.C.*, 372 S.C. 295, 301-02, 641 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2007))); *see also* Jean Hoefer Toal et al., *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 185 (3d ed. 2016). Dajon had ample opportunity to request a self-defense jury charge before the jury began its deliberations, and his failure to do so constitutes waiver of his right to request a self-defense charge.

B. Even if Dajon had not waived his ability to request a self-defense charge, *State v. Jalann Lee Williams*⁵ precludes a self-defense charge because Dajon's act of intentionally bringing a loaded gun to an illegal drug transaction was reasonably calculated to produce violence such that he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty, making him ineligible for a self-defense charge.

In *Jalann Lee Williams*, our Supreme Court discussed the first element of self-defense—that the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty—where Williams intentionally brought a loaded, unlawfully possessed gun to an illegal drug deal. 427 S.C. at 250-51, 830 S.E.2d at 906. Our Supreme Court determined that such an act was a violation of law that was reasonably calculated to produce violence, which thereby barred Williams' right to assert self-defense. *Id.* Our Supreme Court noted three different illegal activities in which Williams participated, two of which are relevant here. *Id.* at 251, 830 S.E.2d at 907-08. The first illegal

⁵ 427 S.C. 246, 830 S.E.2d 904 (2019).

activity—unlawful possession of a gun—is not a factor in this case as the State did not allege Dajon unlawfully possessed a gun. Second, the possession, purchase, or sale of marijuana is a violation of state law. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-370(a) and (c). Third, it is a violation of federal law to bring a gun to an illegal drug transaction. *See* 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A).

Here, the State presented testimony at trial that marijuana was found in Conn's white Acura SUV. (R. 353, 497). The circumstantial evidence presented at trial suggested that this incident started as a drug deal. Bryant stated that a man standing next to a white Acura, Conn, had been around the Sunhouse all day and that she had never seen him before. (R. 59-61). Nasirea talked to that man while the group was at the Sunhouse. (R. 59). Marcus testified that the cell phone records showed that Dicker called Conn shortly before the shooting. (R. 726). He stated that the records were consistent with Nasirea's phone and Dajon's phone both being at the crime scene when the shootings occurred. (R. 804, 806). Further, four guns were shot at the scene, only two of which were recovered by law enforcement. (R. 582-583).

Therefore, the evidence in the record supports the State's theory that Dajon intentionally brought a loaded gun to an illegal marijuana transaction with Conn, which our Supreme Court has determined is a violation of law reasonably calculated to produce violence such that it bars a defendant's right to assert self-defense.

C. Even if Dajon had not waived his ability to request a self-defense charge and if *State v. Jalann Lee Williams* is not applicable, the record contains no evidence that Dajon acted in self-defense.

At trial, it was uncontested that no one knew who shot first. In closing Nasirea argued that no one knew who shot first. (R. 1143). Dajon, in closing, implied that no one knew who shot first. (R. 1183). Without any evidence as to who shot first, no evidence exists to show that Dajon or Nasirea were without fault in bringing on the difficulty. *See Jalann Lee Williams*, 427 S.C. at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905 ("The law requires this self-defense charge, however, only when there is

evidence in the record to support the right of the defendant to use deadly force."); *id.* at 249, 830 S.E.2d at 905-06 ("If there is no evidence to support the existence of any one element [of self-defense], the trial court must not charge self-defense to the jury.").

Any argument that the evidence in the record supports an inference that Conn or Dicker shot first amounts to nothing more than conjecture and speculation. Dajon seemed to agree when he asserted that the jury "saw something that none of us saw." (R. 1215). To the extent that Dajon argued that Conn fired first because Conn fired more shots than Dicker, Dajon, and Nasirea individually fired, this is a logical fallacy rather than evidence. Merely firing more shots than others when the confrontation could have consisted of more than one person against Conn in no way suggests that Conn began shooting before someone shot at him. No testimony or other evidence was presented that supports a theory that Conn *must* have shot first or else he would not have been physically able to shoot nine times before he was paralyzed and/or killed. While the shot to the back of Conn's head undoubtedly left him unable to fire his weapon again, the number of shots he fired before succumbing to his substantial injuries does not imply that he began this incident. It merely implies that he knew how to pull a trigger, likely in quick fashion. No one knows who started shooting first; therefore, even in the light most favorable to Dajon, there is no evidence that Dajon and Nasirea were without fault in bringing on this difficulty.

To the extent Dajon argued that Dicker's elbow injury could be considered a defensive wound, thus meaning he was defending himself from Conn, this theory also relies on an unsupported logical jump. Because we do not know who started shooting first, it is just as likely that someone other than Conn shot first and Conn was defending himself, which could have resulted in potentially defensive wounds to Dicker. The point being: no one knows who started

shooting first, so there is no evidence that Dajon and Nasirea were without fault in bringing on this difficulty.

Finally, to the extent Dajon asserts that because he was shot, he was acting in self-defense, this argument, without that critical missing evidence of who actually began this difficulty, has no merit. Conn and Dicker were both also shot, and they both died. Therefore, by Dajon's logic, they both were engaged in self-defense. However, all the actors in this difficulty could not have been acting in self-defense. Again, because no one knows who started shooting first, no evidence in the record exists to show that Dajon and Nasirea were without fault in bringing on this difficulty.

Thus, because no evidence in the record exists to support the first element of self-defense, Dajon was not entitled to a self-defense charge, and the trial court did not err by declining to charge the jury on self-defense.

II. The trial court did not err by denying Dajon's motion to exclude his redacted booking report and photograph because this evidence was explained in such a manner that it did not imply Dajon had committed prior bad acts.

Generally, the introduction of a booking photograph—and similarly, a redacted booking report—can be reversible error unless: "(1) the [S]tate has a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph, (2) the photograph shown to the jury does not suggest the defendant has a criminal record, and (3) the photograph is not introduced in such a way as to draw attention to its origin or implication." *State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 84, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2004).

Our Supreme Court noted that the rationale for holding that booking photographs are generally prejudicial, and therefore inadmissible absent a showing of the three criteria listed above, is because such photographs imply that a defendant has committed prior bad acts. *Id.* at 84 n.12, 600 S.E.2d at 528 n.12. At the same time, our Supreme Court held that where a booking photograph was explained by testimony at trial in such a manner that it did not imply that the defendant had committed prior bad acts, then no prejudice results from the admission of the

booking photographs. *Id.* Therefore, where booking documents are explained in a way that does not imply a defendant committed prior bad acts, those documents are admissible.

Here, the witness that identified Dajon and Nasirea from personal knowledge was Sabrina Bryant, an employee at the Sunhouse convenience store. (R. 46). However, she did not know their legal names, instead identifying them only by nicknames. (R. 49). When the State sought to introduce the booking photographs and redacted booking reports immediately after Bryant's testimony, Sandy Lowe, the records custodian for the Horry County detention center, testified that anyone arrested and charged with a crime would have a similar booking report that would include their name, photograph, and address. (R. 98-99). These three pieces of information—name, photograph, and address—were all that the State sought to admit with the booking photographs and redacted booking reports.⁶ Lowe testified that Dajon and Nasirea provided their address to her when they were processed after being arrested for the charges in this case. (R. 102, 106). Lowe confirmed that the booking photographs were taken after Dajon and Nasirea arrived at the detention center after being arrested for the crimes charged. (R. 106).

The booking reports were redacted except for Dajon and Nasirea's names, addresses, and physical identifying information (i.e., weight, height, age, etc.). (R. 1253, 1255). While the reports had lines for "FBI ID" and "Holds," any information associated with these lines was redacted and Lowe did not provide testimony as to what these lines meant. (R. 1253, 1255). The mere presence of these lines without any explanation does not suggest that Dajon or Nasirea committed prior bad acts because without explanation because these lines could mean anything or nothing at all.

⁶ Lowe confirmed before her testimony that she did not recall from where the alias on Nasirea's report originated, and the State redacted it. (R. 92-93).

While this particular case may not have been the "rarest of cases" in which our Supreme Court envisioned booking photographs and redacted booking reports to be used under the three criteria listed in *Traylor*, Dajon and Nasirea were nonetheless not prejudiced by the admission of this evidence because Lowe's testimony during trial made clear that this evidence concerned the charges in this case rather than some prior bad act. The booking photographs were taken after Dajon and Nasirea arrived at the detention center after being arrested for the crimes charged. (R. 106). The booking reports were created after Dajon and Nasirea arrived using information they provided to Lowe. (R. 101-102). Further, this evidence served to positively identify both Dajon and Nasirea by their legal names where the first witness who personally knew them could not. This evidence also confirmed both Dajon and Nasirea's home address, which was relevant because law enforcement executed a search at that address.

Because the entire concern with introducing booking photographs is the implication of prior bad acts, Dajon and Nasirea cannot be prejudiced by the introduction of booking photographs and redacted booking reports where such evidence is paired with testimony that explained the evidence did not imply any prior bad acts.

[conclusion and signature block on following page]